



NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING INCLUDING STATEMENT OF NEED & FISCAL IMPACT

CHAPTER 345
DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY
ENERGY FACILITY SITING COUNCIL

FILED

06/18/2025 4:13 PM
ARCHIVES DIVISION
SECRETARY OF STATE

FILING CAPTION: Improving EFSC Amendment Process Through Greater Clarity and Enhanced Public Comment Process

LAST DAY AND TIME TO OFFER COMMENT TO AGENCY: 08/01/2025 5:00 PM

The Agency requests public comment on whether other options should be considered for achieving the rule's substantive goals while reducing negative economic impact of the rule on business.

CONTACT: Thomas Jackman
503-551-7603
tom.jackman@energy.oregon.gov

550 Capitol St. NE
Salem, OR 97301

Filed By:
Thomas Jackman
Rules Coordinator

HEARING(S)

Auxiliary aids for persons with disabilities are available upon advance request. Notify the contact listed above.

DATE: 07/18/2025

TIME: 8:50 AM

OFFICER: Tom Jackman

IN-PERSON HEARING DETAILS

ADDRESS: Meitner Room, First floor, 550 Capitol St. NE, Salem, OR 97301

REMOTE HEARING DETAILS

MEETING URL: [Click here to join the meeting](#)

PHONE NUMBER: 650-479-3208

CONFERENCE ID: 26607367114

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:

Password: EFSC

NEED FOR THE RULE(S)

The legislature established the Energy Facility Siting Council (EFSC) to oversee a comprehensive program for the siting, monitoring and regulation of energy facilities in Oregon. To this end, the Council must establish rules and standards to ensure that the siting, construction and operation of energy facilities is accomplished in a manner consistent with the protection of public health and safety and in compliance with Oregon's energy, land use, and environmental protection policies.

This rulemaking effort is being done to increase the clarity and efficiency of EFSC's amendment process, both by updating language to add additional detail where needed and to apply lessons learned over the last few years of applying the existing rules. This includes the removal of the rarely used (in amendment) contested case process, to be

replaced with an enhanced public participation option. The current proposed rules also include the removal of the Type A / Type B amendment review tracks, to be replaced with a unified approach that is designed to meet the needs of the amendments in question. These updated rules represent an effort to streamline the amendment process, while ensure continued protection of public health and safety and compliance with Oregon’s energy, land use, and environmental protection policies.

DOCUMENTS RELIED UPON, AND WHERE THEY ARE AVAILABLE

Staff Report and Supporting Materials for Agenda Item H of the June 13, 2025 Energy Facility Siting Council Meeting, available from: <https://www.oregon.gov/energy/facilities-safety/facilities/Pages/Council-Meetings.aspx>

STATEMENT IDENTIFYING HOW ADOPTION OF RULE(S) WILL AFFECT RACIAL EQUITY IN THIS STATE

The adoption and amendment of the rules herein are intended to increase the clarity and readability of the energy siting process related rules. It is not clear that this rulemaking would have a direct impact on racial equity in this state.

Energy facilities subject to the Council’s jurisdiction are typically located in rural areas east of the Cascade Mountain Range. While these areas generally have similar demographics as the statewide population, some Counties that have seen significant levels of energy development, such as Wasco, Jefferson, Umatilla, and Klamath Counties also contain tribal lands and, according to 2021 data from the US Census Bureau Population Estimates Program, have higher percentages of people who identify as American Indian than the statewide population. Some counties which contain numerous energy facilities, including Morrow and Umatilla Counties, also have a higher percentage of people that identify as Hispanic or Latino than the statewide population.

FISCAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT:

Stakeholders (energy developers, prospective site certificate applicants, and members of the public) consulted agreed there would be minimal fiscal impact. These changes are primarily about making the rules that govern the amendment process for the Energy Facility Siting Council clearer. Overall review times for amendments are not expected to change much, as the possibility of a contested case has been replaced with an extended public comment process. The rules are thus not expected to create additional expenditures or revenues for state agencies or units of local government. Efficiencies created by these changes such as the removal of printing requirement for application materials could reduce application costs for some applicants, but these reduced costs are hard to estimate at this time.

COST OF COMPLIANCE:

(1) Identify any state agencies, units of local government, and members of the public likely to be economically affected by the rule(s). (2) Effect on Small Businesses: (a) Estimate the number and type of small businesses subject to the rule(s); (b) Describe the expected reporting, recordkeeping and administrative activities and cost required to comply with the rule(s); (c) Estimate the cost of professional services, equipment supplies, labor and increased administration required to comply with the rule(s).

These rules will apply to persons applying for an energy facility site certificate. Typically, applicants and certificate holders include electric and natural gas utilities, independent power producers, and energy developers. Because the analysis under the proposed rules is substantively the same as that required under the current rules, there is no anticipated cost increase, and indeed there is potentially a cost savings as a result of having rules that are easier to follow.

No direct fiscal impacts or administrative costs to state agencies or units of local government are expected to result from these rules.

We estimate that there may be approximately 12-15 energy developers operating in Oregon that have 50 or fewer

employees, although to our understanding, many of these companies utilize parent companies or affiliates as a core part of their business model and thus may not qualify as small businesses. However, assuming they all qualified as small businesses, and assuming all were to apply for a site certificate in the future (which is not expected), our best estimate is that there are potentially 12-15 small businesses that could be affected by the proposed rules.

If a small business were to apply for a site certificate in the future, the impacts would be identical to those experienced by other applicants and certificate holders. Such impacts are not expected to be significant nor disproportionately affect small businesses as compared to other businesses because the impact of the rules is not related to the size of the business proposing a project but to the size and location of the project being proposed.

The expected reporting, recordkeeping and administrative activities and other costs required to comply with the rules would be similar to those required under the current rules. We note that as part of the siting process, applicants must demonstrate that they have the ability to design, construct and operate the proposed facility in compliance with site certificate conditions and in a manner that protects public health and safety as well as the ability to restore the site to a useful, non-hazardous condition. We note that a business that has this ability, or access to the technical expertise needed to demonstrate this ability, should not be disproportionately burdened by this rule regardless of its size. Because the proposed rules would only potentially affect a small number of small businesses, would only result in relatively small changes in costs of compliance, and would affect large and small energy developers equally, we do not expect the proposed rules to have an adverse impact on small businesses.

DESCRIBE HOW SMALL BUSINESSES WERE INVOLVED IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THESE RULE(S):

Small businesses were not specifically consulted during the development of these rules.

WAS AN ADMINISTRATIVE RULE ADVISORY COMMITTEE CONSULTED? YES

RULES PROPOSED:

345-021-0090, 345-027-0001, 345-027-0110, 345-027-0210, 345-027-0311, 345-027-0351, 345-027-0357, 345-027-0360, 345-027-0363, 345-027-0365, 345-027-0367, 345-027-0368, 345-027-0371, 345-027-0372, 345-027-0375, 345-027-0380, 345-027-0385, 345-027-0400

AMEND: 345-021-0090

RULE SUMMARY: Updating outdated rule reference.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-021-0090

Amendment of an Application ¶¶

- (1) When the applicant is preparing to submit an amended application, the applicant must notify the Department.¶¶
- (2) The applicant may amend a preliminary application at any time.¶¶
- (3) If the applicant submits an amended application after the date of filing as determined under OAR 345-015-0190 or 345-015-0310, the Department may withdraw the filing of the application until the Department has reviewed the amended application for completeness as described under OAR 345-015-0190 or 345-015-0310.¶¶
- (4) If the applicant submits an amended application after issuance of a contested case notice under OAR 345-015-0014403, the Department may, by motion, request that the contested case proceeding be terminated and the Council's hearing officer may issue an order terminating the proceeding. Upon issuance of the order, the Department may withdraw the filing of the application until the Department has reviewed the amended application for completeness as described under OAR 345-015-0190 or 345-015-0310.¶¶
- (5) The applicant must submit, to the Department, two printed copies of the amended application, and an electronic version of the amended application in a non-copy-protected format acceptable to the Department. The applicant must provide additional printed copies of the amended application to the Department upon request. The

applicant must prepare and distribute additional copies of the amended application in the manner described in OAR 345-015-0180.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.373, 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.350

ADOPT: 345-027-0001

RULE SUMMARY: This is not a new rule, but rather is former OAR 345-027-0311, which has been moved to a more logical location at the start of the division. Because this rule was slightly modified, the change was done via a repeal and an adoption of a new rule, rather than a simple renumber, which does not allow for edits.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0001

Applicability

(1) The rules in this division apply to all requests for amendment to a site certificate and amendment determination requests for facilities under the Council's jurisdiction that are submitted to or were under review by the Council on or after the effective date of the rules. The Department and Council will continue to process all requests for amendment and amendment determination requests for which Council has not made a final decision prior to the effective date of these rules, without requiring the certificate holder to resubmit the request or certificate holder or the Department to repeat or redo any steps taken as part of the request prior to the effective date of these rules.

(2) Notwithstanding section (1) of this rule, these rules do not apply to facilities described in ORS 469.410(1).

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.501

AMEND: 345-027-0110

RULE SUMMARY: Removing printed copy requirements, updating language for clarity, adding documentation requirement to help the Department track facility retirement, and providing direction for partial retirement.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0110

Termination or Partial Termination of a Site Certificate ¶

- (1) A certificate holder may apply to the Council to terminate a site certificate at any time, subject to the requirements of this rule.¶
- (2) A certificate holder must apply to the Council to terminate a site certificate within two years following cessation of construction or operation of the facility.¶
- (3) If the certificate holder fails to apply to the Council to terminate the site certificate and the Council finds that the certificate holder has permanently ceased construction or operation of the facility, then the Council may terminate the site certificate according to the procedure described in OAR 345-025-0006(16).¶
- (4) In an application for termination of the site certificate, the certificate holder must include a proposed final retirement plan for the facility and site. ~~The certificate holder must submit two printed copies of the application for termination and the proposed final retirement plan, and an electronic version of the application for termination and the proposed final retirement plan in a non-copy-protected electronic format acceptable to the Department. The certificate holder must submit additional printed copies of the application for termination and the proposed final retirement plan to the Department upon request.¶~~
- (5) In the proposed final retirement plan, the certificate holder must include:¶
- (a) A plan for retirement that provides for completion of retirement without significant delay and that protects public health, safety and the environment;¶
- (b) A description of actions the certificate holder proposes to take to restore the site to a useful, non-hazardous condition, including information on how impacts to fish, wildlife and the environment would be minimized during the retirement process;¶
- (c) A current detailed cost estimate and a plan for ensuring the availability of adequate funds for completion of retirement; ~~and~~¶
- (d) An updated list of property owners, as described in OAR 345-021-0010(31)(e)(f); ~~and~~¶
- (e) Identify the qualifications of the contractor(s) to conduct the retirement of the facility.¶
- (6) Within 15 days after receiving an application, the Department determines that the application for termination of a site certificate is complete, the Department must:¶
- (a) Send a notice of the application, by mail or email, specifying a date by which comments on the application are due, by mail or email, whether the retirement plan and cost estimate allow for restoration of the site to a useful, nonhazardous condition to:¶
- (A) All persons on the Council's general mailing list, as defined in OAR 345-011-0020;¶
- (B) All persons on any special list established for the facility; and¶
- (C) ~~The property owners on the updated list submitted by the certificate holder under section (5) as designated by (4)(d) of this rule.~~¶
- (b) Send copies of the application for termination by mail or email to the reviewing agencies for the facility, and ask those agencies to comment by a specified date; and¶
- (c) Post an announcement of the application for termination on the Department's website.¶
- (7) The Council must review the proposed final retirement plan and must consider any comments received from the public and the reviewing agencies. The Council may retain an independent evaluator to assist in conducting this review and may approve the proposed final retirement plan or modify the plan to comply with the rules of this chapter and applicable conditions in the site certificate. If the plan is approved, the Council must issue an order authorizing retirement according to the approved or modified final retirement plan and subject to any conditions the Council finds appropriate. The Council's order may be appealed as described in ORS 183.480.¶
- (7) When a certificate holder completes retirement of the facility, it shall promptly submit documentation to the Department demonstrating the retirement was conducted in compliance with the Council-approved final retirement plan.¶
- (8) When the Council finds that the certificate holder has completed the retirement of the facility according to the Council's order authorizing retirement, the Council must issue an order terminating the site certificate.¶
- (9) When the Council finds that the site certificate has expired as described in OAR 345-027-0313, the Council shall issue an order terminating the site certificate.¶
- (10) A certificate holder may apply to Council to release a portion of the site from the terms and conditions of the site certificate by following the procedures set forth in sections (4) to (7) of this rule with respect to the portion in

question. When the Council finds that the certificate holder has completed partial retirement of the facility in compliance with the Council-approved partial retirement plan, the Council must issue an order amending the site certificate to remove any components that have been retired in compliance with the Council-approved partial retirement plan and make any other changes necessary to reflect the retirement of those components.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405, ORS 469.501

AMEND: 345-027-0210

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule to reflect recent rulemakings, including the addition of a Wildfire Prevention and Risk Mitigation standard.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0210

General ¶¶

- (1) A person may not construct a gas storage testing pipeline unless the certificate holder of the Council certified facility to which the pipeline would connect obtains, before construction, the approval of the Department for the construction, operation and retirement of the proposed pipeline as required under ORS 469.405(3).¶¶
- (2) For the purposes of OAR 345-027-0510 through 345-027-0540:¶¶
- (a) "Gas storage testing pipeline" means a pipeline, but not a temporary pipeline, that is less than 16 inches in diameter and less than five miles in length, that is used to test or maintain an underground gas storage reservoir, and that would connect to a Council certified facility if the storage reservoir proves feasible for operational use;¶¶
- (b) "Temporary pipeline" means a pipeline that has no potential for operational use;¶¶
- (c) "Council certified facility" means an energy facility for which the Council has issued a site certificate that is either a surface facility related to an underground gas storage reservoir or a gas pipeline;¶¶
- (d) "Connect" means join for the purpose of operational use;¶¶
- (e) "Test or maintain" means transporting gas to an underground gas storage reservoir for the purposes of determining whether the reservoir is feasible for operational use or maintaining the gas storage capacity of the reservoir but does not include operational use;¶¶
- (f) "Operational use" means transporting gas to an underground gas storage reservoir for the purpose of storing gas until it is needed for sale or for withdrawing gas from an underground gas storage reservoir for the purpose of sale;¶¶
- (g) "Council substantive standards" means the following standards:¶¶
- (A) Structural Standard, OAR 345-022-0020;¶¶
- (B) Soil Protection, OAR 345-022-0022;¶¶
- (C) Protected Areas, OAR 345-022-0040(1) but excluding (2) and (3);¶¶
- (D) Retirement and Financial Assurance, OAR 345-022-0050;¶¶
- (E) Fish and Wildlife Habitat, OAR 345-022-0060;¶¶
- (F) Threatened and Endangered Species, OAR 345-022-0070¶¶
- (G) Scenic Resources, OAR 345-022-0080;¶¶
- (H) Historic, Cultural and Archaeological Resources, OAR 345-022-0090;¶¶
- (I) Recreation, OAR 345-022-0100;¶¶
- (J) Public Services, OAR 345-022-0110;¶¶
- (K) Waste Minimization, OAR 345-022-0120; and¶¶
- (L) Public Health and Safety, OAR 345-024-0030(2), (3) and (4); and¶¶
- (M) Wildfire Prevention and Risk Mitigation, OAR 345-022-0115.¶¶
- (h) "Information requirements" means information that would support the findings described in OAR 345-024-0030(2) and the information described in OAR ~~345-022-0020(4), 345-022-0022(2)(b), 345-022-0160(1)(a), 345-022-0040(5), 345-022-0050(4), 345-022-0060(3), 345-022-0070(3), 345-022-0080(5), 345-022-0090(4), 345-022-0100(5), 345-022-0110(4)(a), 345-022-0115, 345-022-120(4),~~ division 22 for the standards listed above.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.405

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

REPEAL: 345-027-0311

RULE SUMMARY: Moving rule (with additional edits) to OAR 345-027-0001

CHANGES TO RULE:

~~345-027-0311~~

~~Applicability~~

~~(1) The rules in this division apply to all requests for amendment to a site certificate and amendment determination requests for facilities under the Council's jurisdiction that are submitted to, or were already under review by, the Council on or after the effective date of the rules. The Department and Council will continue to process all requests for amendment and amendment determination requests submitted on or after October 24, 2017 for which Council has not made a final decision prior to the effective date of these rules, without requiring the certificate holder to resubmit the request or to repeat any steps taken as part of the request prior to the effective date of these rules.¶~~

~~(2) Notwithstanding section (1) of this rule, these rules do not apply to facilities described in ORS 469.410(1).~~

~~Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470~~

~~Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.501~~

AMEND: 345-027-0351

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule to reflect the removal of the Type A and Type B amendment tracks.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0351

Review Processes for Requests for Amendment

(1) The transfer review process, described in OAR 345-027-0400, applies to the Council's review of a request for amendment to a site certificate to transfer a site certificate.¶

(2) The ~~type A standard amendment~~ review process, ~~consisting of set forth in~~ OAR 345-027-0359, ~~345-027-0360, 345-027-0363, 345-027-0365, 345-027-0367, 345-027-0371 and 60 through~~ 345-027-0375, is the default review process and applies to the Council's review of a request for amendment proposing a change described in OAR 345-027-0350(2), (3), ~~(4), or (45)~~.¶

(3) ~~The type B review process, consisting of OAR 345-027-0359, 345-027-0360, 345-027-0363, 345-027-0365, 345-027-0368, 345-027-0372, and 345-027-0375, applies to the Council's review of a request for amendment that the Department or the Council approves for type B review under OAR 345-027-0357.¶~~

(4) ~~The type C review process, described in OAR 345-027-0380, applies to the Council's review of a request for amendment that the Department or the Council approves for type C~~ A pre-operational request for amendment review process applies to the Council's review of a request for amendment that the Department or the Council approves for a pre-operational request for amendment review under OAR 345-027-0380.¶

(54) The Council may act concurrently on any combination of proposed changes included in a request for amendment. Concurrent proposed changes are subject to the substantive requirements applicable to each respective proposed change and the Council must review all proposed changes through the process with the more procedural steps applicable to any one of the proposed changes.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule to reflect the loss of the Type A / Type B review tracks.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0357

Amendment Determination Request

(1) For a proposed change that would add area to the site boundary, the certificate holder must either:¶

(a) Submit a request for amendment to the Department; or¶

(b) Submit an amendment determination request to the Department for a written determination of whether the proposed change requires an amendment under OAR 345-027-0350, ~~and is not exempt under OAR 345-027-0353.~~¶

(2) For a proposed change that would not add area to the site boundary, the certificate holder may submit an amendment determination request to the Department for a written determination of whether:¶

(a) The proposed change requires an amendment under OAR 345-027-0350; or¶

(b) The proposed change is exempt from requiring an amendment under OAR 345-027-0353.¶

~~(3) For any request for amendment described under OAR 345-027-0350(3) or (4), the certificate holder may submit an amendment determination request to the Department for a written determination of whether a request for amendment justifies review under the type B review process described in OAR 345-027-0351(3).~~¶

~~(4) A request described in section (1), (2), or (3) of this rule~~An amendment determination request must be submitted in writing to the Department and must include:¶

(a) A narrative description of the proposed change;¶

(b) Maps and/or geospatial data layers representing the effects and/or location of the proposed change;¶

(c) The certificate holder's evaluation of the determinations it is requesting under sections (1), ~~(2)~~, or ~~(3)~~ (2) of this rule; and¶

(d) Any additional information the certificate holder believes will assist the Department's evaluation.¶

~~(5)~~ After receiving an amendment determination request, the Department must post an announcement on the Department's website to notify the public that an amendment determination request has been received. The announcement must include a copy of the amendment determination request.¶

~~(6)~~ Upon receiving a request for a written determination ~~described in section (1) or (2) of this rule~~, the Department must, as promptly as possible, issue a written determination to the certificate holder. If the Department needs more information to complete its evaluation, it must promptly identify what information it needs and request the certificate holder provide it. After the Department issues its written determination, the Department must, as promptly as possible, provide the request and the written determination to the Council and post the written determination to its website. At the first Council meeting after the Department issues its written determination, the Department must provide verbal notice of the request and the written determination to the Council during the consent calendar agenda item. The Department may refer its determination to the Council for concurrence, modification, or rejection. At the request of the certificate holder or a Council member, the Department must refer its determination to the Council for concurrence, modification or rejection.¶

~~(7) Upon receiving a request for a written determination described in section (3) of this rule, the Department must, as promptly as possible, issue a written determination to the certificate holder. At the request of the certificate holder, the Department must refer its determination to the Council for concurrence, modification, or rejection.~~¶

~~(8) In determining whether a request for amendment justifies review under the type B review process described in OAR 345-027-0351(3), the Department and the Council may consider factors including, but not limited to:~~¶

~~(a) The complexity of the proposed change;¶~~

~~(b) The anticipated level of public interest in the proposed change;¶~~

~~(c) The anticipated level of interest by reviewing agencies;¶~~

~~(d) The likelihood of significant adverse impact; and¶~~

~~(e) The type and amount of mitigation, if any.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

AMEND: 345-027-0360

RULE SUMMARY: Clarifying rule language, with respect to both analysis areas and how to properly rely on previously submitted evidence.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0360

Preliminary Request for Amendment

(1) To request an amendment to the site certificate required by OAR 345-027-0350(3) or (4), the certificate holder must submit a written preliminary request for amendment to the Department that includes the following:¶

(a) The name of the facility, the name and mailing address of the certificate holder, and the name, mailing address, email address and phone number of the individual responsible for submitting the request;¶

(b) A detailed description of the proposed change, including:¶

(A) A description of how the proposed change affects the facility;¶

(B) A description of how the proposed change affects those resources or interests protected by applicable laws and Council standards; and¶

(C) The specific location of the proposed change, and any updated maps and/or geospatial data layers relevant to the proposed change;¶

~~(c) References to any specific Division 21~~ The request for amendment analysis areas ("RFA analysis areas"), which are based on the following:¶

(A) If a Project Order was issued for the facility, the area within the distances for analysis areas specified in the Project Order; or¶

(B) If a Project Order was not issued for the facility, the area within the distances for study areas specified in OAR 345-001-0010.¶

(C) If applicable, a modified site boundary, which reflects that:¶

(i) A proposed amendment is not contained by the existing site boundary. In this case, the RFA analysis areas would extend from the portions of the site boundary that are the subject of the amendment request; or¶

(ii) A proposed amendment is a subset of the existing site boundary.¶

(d) Any specific information that may be required for the Department to make its findings;¶

~~(de)~~ The specific language of the site certificate, including conditions, that the certificate holder proposes to change, add, or delete through the amendment;¶

~~(ef)~~ A list of all Council standards and other laws, including statutes, rules and ordinances, applicable to the proposed change, and an analysis identification of any changes in facts or law relevant to the proposed change since the date the current site certificate was executed, and an analysis supported by evidence of whether the facility, with the proposed change, would comply with those applicable laws and Council standards. For the purpose of this rule, a law or Council standard is "applicable" if the Council would apply or consider the law or Council standard under OAR 345-027-0375(2); and¶

~~(fg)~~ A list of the names and mailing addresses of property owners, as described in this rule:¶

(A) The list must include all owners of record, as shown on the most recent property tax assessment roll, of property located:¶

(i) Within 100 feet of property which the subject of the request for amendment, where the subject property is wholly or in part within an urban growth boundary;¶

(ii) Within 250 feet of property which is the subject of the request for amendment, where the subject property is outside an urban growth boundary and not within a farm or forest zone; or¶

(iii) Within 500 feet of property which is the subject of the request for amendment, where the subject property is within a farm or forest zone; and,¶

(B) In addition to incorporating the list in the request for amendment, the applicant must submit the list to the Department in an electronic format acceptable to the Department.¶

(2) Within 14 days ~~after~~ of receiving a preliminary request for amendment, the Department must notify the public that a preliminary request for amendment has been received by:¶

(a) Sending notice by mail or email to:¶

(A) All persons on the Council's general mailing list as defined in OAR 345-011-0020;¶

(B) All persons on any special mailing list established for the facility;¶

(C) The reviewing agencies for the facility, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(51); and¶

(D) The property owners on the list provided under subsection (1)(f) of this rule; and¶

(b) Posting an announcement on the Department's website to notify the public that a preliminary request for amendment has been received. The announcement must include a copy of the preliminary request for amendment.¶

~~(3) For any Council standard that requires evaluation of impacts within an analysis area, the analysis area is the~~

~~larger of either the study areas, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(59), or the analysis areas described in the project order for the application for site certificate, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Department following a pre-amendment conference. The certificate holder may rely upon evidence previously submitted to the Department in the application for site certificate and/or previous request for amendment, or evidence that is otherwise included in the Department's record on the facility if:~~

~~(a) The certificate holder explains how the evidence is relevant to and remains accurate for purposes of the requested amendment;~~

~~(4b) The certificate holder may incorporate, by specific reference, evidence previously updates the evidence and related analysis regarding any data, facts or additional information obtained or learned since the evidence was last submitted to the Department in the application for site certificate or; and~~

~~(c) The certificate holder submits the previously request for amendment, or evidence that is otherwise included in the Department's record on the facility with its preliminary request for amendment.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

AMEND: 345-027-0363

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule to reflect removal of Type A / Type B track.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0363

Determination of Completeness for a Request for Amendment

(1) Until the Department determines a request for amendment to the site certificate is complete, it is a preliminary request for amendment. After receiving a preliminary request for amendment, the Department may seek comments from reviewing agencies to determine whether that request is complete.¶

(2) Unless the certificate holder agrees to additional time, within ~~60 days after receipt of a preliminary request for amendment under type A review, and within 21~~45 days after receipt of a preliminary request for amendment ~~under type B review~~, the Department must notify the certificate holder whether the request for amendment is complete. In the notification, the Department must:¶

(a) State that the request for amendment is complete; or¶

(b) State that the request for amendment is incomplete, and:¶

(A) Describe any additional information needed to complete the request for amendment to the extent known to the Department at the time of the notification, including identification of applicable laws and Council standards not addressed in the preliminary request for amendment;¶

(B) Ask the certificate holder to submit the additional information by the due dates described in section (4) of this rule; and¶

(C) Estimate the additional time the Department will need to make a determination of completeness following the submittal of the additional information by the certificate holder.¶

(3) If the Department does not notify the certificate holder as described in section (2) of this rule, the request for amendment ~~under type A review is deemed complete 60 days after receipt of a preliminary request for amendment, and the request for amendment under type B review is deemed complete 21~~is deemed complete 45 days after receipt of a preliminary request for amendment. Otherwise, the request for amendment is complete as determined under section (5) of this rule.¶

(4) The Department may specify a date by which the certificate holder must submit additional information needed to complete the request for amendment. If follow-up requests for additional information are needed, the Department may specify dates by which the certificate holder must submit the information. At the request of the certificate holder, the Department may allow additional time for submission of the information. If the certificate holder does not submit the information by the deadline specified by the Department, including any allowed extension, the Council may reject the preliminary request for amendment. The rejection of a preliminary request for amendment is subject to appeal under ORS 469.403(3).¶

(5) A request for amendment is complete when the Department finds that the certificate holder has submitted information adequate for the Council to make findings or impose conditions on all applicable laws and Council standards. The Department must notify the certificate holder when the Department finds that the request for amendment is complete.¶

(6) After receiving notification from the Department that the preliminary request for amendment is complete, the Department may require the certificate holder to prepare a consolidated request for amendment that includes all revisions to the preliminary request for amendment and all additional information requested by the Department before the determination of completeness. Upon a request by the Department, the certificate holder must submit printed and non-copy-protected electronic copies of the consolidated request for amendment to the Department, as specified by the Department.¶

(7) If, after a determination that a request for amendment is complete, the Department identifies a need for additional information during its review of the request for amendment, the Department may request additional information from the certificate holder.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

AMEND: 345-027-0365

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule to reflect modified public comment and proposed order process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0365

~~Draft~~ Proposed Order for a Request for Amendment

(1) Within 7 days after a request for amendment to the site certificate described in OAR 345-027-0350(3) or (4); or a request for amendment to apply later-adopted laws described in OAR 345-027-0390; is determined to be complete, the Department must:¶

(a) Send notice to the certificate holder specifying a date for issuance of a ~~draft~~ proposed order. The date of issuance of a ~~draft~~ proposed order for a ~~type A~~ request for amendment must be no later than ~~21~~20 days after the date of the notice. ~~The date of issuance of a draft proposed order for a type B request for amendment must be no later than 60 days after the date of the notice.~~¶

(b) Post an announcement on the Department's website to notify the public that a complete request for amendment has been received. The announcement must include:¶

(A) A copy of the complete request for amendment;¶

(B) The date the ~~draft~~ proposed order will be issued, as specified in the notice required by subsection (1)(a) of this rule; and¶

(C) A statement that the public comment period begins upon issuance of the ~~draft~~ proposed order.¶

(2) No later than the date specified in the notice required by subsection (1)(a) of this rule, the Department must issue a ~~draft~~ proposed order recommending approval, modification, or denial of the requested amendment. The Department may issue the ~~draft~~ proposed order at a later date, but the Department must, no later than the date the Department has specified in the notice required by subsection (1)(a) of this rule, notify the certificate holder in writing of the reasons for the delay. The ~~draft~~ proposed order may include, but is not limited to, ~~draft~~ proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and conditions concerning the facility's compliance with applicable laws and Council Standards.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

AMEND: 345-027-0367

RULE SUMMARY: Ensuring that the public comment period does not close until at least a week after the public hearing.

Providing an enhanced process for public participation.

Updating rule to account for loss of Type A/B review tracks.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0367

Public Comment and Hearing on the ~~Draft~~ Proposed Order for Requests for Amendment ~~Under Type A Review~~

(1) After issuance of the ~~draft~~ proposed order as described in OAR 345-027-0365, the Council must conduct a public hearing on the request for amendment to the site certificate ~~in the vicinity of the facility. The public hearing is not a contested case hearing.~~

(2) The public hearing should take place in the vicinity of the facility, unless the Council or Council Chair determines that doing so is unnecessary given the limited scope of the amendment or a lack of public interest or that an in-person hearing would result in a heightened risk to public health and safety.

(3) The public hearing must be held at least 20 days after the ~~draft~~ proposed order is issued. The public hearing is not a contested case hearing and no less than 7 days before the end of the public comment period.

~~(24)~~ Concurrent with the issuance of the ~~draft~~ proposed order as described in OAR 345-027-0365, the Department must:

(a) Send the notice described in section ~~(35)~~ of this rule by mail or email to:

(A) All persons on the Council's general mailing list as defined in OAR 345-011-0020;

(B) All persons on any special mailing list established for the facility;

(C) The reviewing agencies for the facility, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(52); and

(D) The property owners on the list provided under OAR 345-027-0360(1)(f);

(b) Post the complete request for amendment, ~~draft~~ proposed order, and the notice of the ~~draft~~ proposed order and public hearing on the Department website; and

(c) Upon request, make physical copies of the ~~draft~~ proposed order available to the public for inspection.

~~(35)~~ The notice of the complete request for amendment, ~~draft~~ proposed order and public hearing must include:

(a) A description of the facility and the facility's general location;

~~(b) The date, time and location of the public hearing described in section (1) of this rule;~~

~~(c)~~ The name, address, email address and telephone number of the Department representative to contact for additional information;

~~(d)~~ Addresses of the physical locations and the website where the public may review copies of the complete request for amendment and ~~draft~~ proposed order;

~~(e)~~ The deadline for the public to submit written comments to be included in the record of the public hearing, and how such comments should be submitted; and

~~(f)~~ A statement that:

(A) A complete request for amendment has been received and reviewed by the Department;

(B) The Department has issued a ~~draft~~ proposed order;

~~(c)~~ To raise an issue on the record of the public hearing A description of the scope and nature of public participation in a review on an amendment as outlined in sections (6), (7), and (8) of this rule, including all applicable deadlines.

(6) To timely raise an issue regarding the request for amendment or proposed order on the record, a person must raise the issue in person at the public hearing or in a written comment submitted after the date of the notice of the public hearing and received by the Department before the close of the record of before the conclusion of the public comment period.

(a) The Council will not accept or consider any further public hearing;

~~(D)~~ A person's failure to raise an issue in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing precludes comment on the request for amendment or on the proposed order after the close of the public comment period on the proposed order.

(b) Notwithstanding (a), the Council's will consideration of whether to grant that person's subsequent contested case request; and include in the decision record for the request for amendment all timely responses, replies, and sur-replies relating to public comments as outlined in section (8) of this rule.

~~(E7)~~ A person's failure to raise an issue Comments - both written and oral - submitted during the public comment period must be made with sufficient specificity to afford the Council, the Department, and the certificate holder

an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes the Council from considering whether that issue justifies a contested case proceeding;(s) raised in the comment.¶

(a) To raise an issue with sufficient specificity, a person must in their comment:¶

(A) Identify the recommended findings of fact, conclusions of law or conditions of approval identified in the proposed order to which they object;¶

(B) Specify the Council standard or other applicable state and local requirements on which their objection is based; and¶

(FC) To raise an issue with sufficient specificity, a person must present facts; Present facts or statements supporting that objection.¶

(b) If a comment is not made with sufficient specificity, the Department will not make any revisions to the draft on the record final order based on the public hearing comment.¶

(8) All timely comments submitted during the public comment period will be subject to the following process:¶

(a) The certificate holder must provide a written response to written and verbal comments on the request for amendment or the proposed order;¶

(b) The Council will not accept or consider any further Department can choose, but is not required to respond to written or verbal comments on the request for amendment or the proposed order;¶

(c) The response(s) in (a) can be limited to a statement that the public comment on the request for amendment does not allow the certificate holder to substantively respond, as the comment fails to meet the sufficient specificity standard as described in (7);¶

(d) Reviewing agencies and members of the public may submit written replies to the responses to their own draft proposed order after the close of respective comments in (c);¶

(e) The certificate holder and Department may submit a sur-reply to the replies described in (d); and¶

(f) Participants to the public comment process may request more time to submit their response, reply, and sur-reply to the Council or Council Chair, who shall grant the extension on a showing of good cause.¶

(9) During the public hearing, the Department must explain the amendment process, including the means and opportunities for the general public to participate in the process. The Department may provide this explanation by a written handout.¶

(10) At the commencement of the public hearing, the presiding officer must read aloud the following:¶

(a) A person who intends to request a contested case on the Council should reject a request to amend a site certificate or that Council in its final order should reject or revise certain aspects of a Department proposed order for a site certificate amendment must:¶

(A) Comment in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing; and¶

(b) A person who intends to raise an issue that may be the basis for granting a contested case proceeding must raise that issue on the record of the public hearing prior to the close of the public comment period;¶

(B) Raise their issue(s) with sufficient specificity to afford the Council, the Department, and the certificate holder an adequate opportunity to respond to the issue(s). To raise an issue with sufficient specificity, a person must present, in their comment, identify the recommended findings of facts, conclusions of law or conditions of approval identified in the proposed order to which they object, specify the Council standard or other applicable state and local requirements on which their objection is based, and present facts or statements supporting that objection; and¶

(b) If a comment is not made with sufficient specificity, the Council will not make any changes in its final order based on that comment.¶

(11) At the public hearing, any person may make comments and present information regarding the pending request for amendment without administration of an oath. The presiding officer must record all presentations made during the public hearing. The presentations are part of the decision record for the request for amendment.¶

(7) Following the close of the record of the public hearing on the draft proposed order, the Council must review the draft proposed order, must consider all comments received on the record of the hearing, and may provide comments to the Department regarding the draft proposed order. When the Council meets to review a draft proposed order, the Council may not permit (12) At the public hearing, the Council may pose questions to the certificate holder, reviewing agencies, or the public to the Department, on any issue that may be the basis for a contested case request from members of the public who submitted comments.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

REPEAL: 345-027-0368

RULE SUMMARY: Repealing this, as part of the removal of the Type A / Type B review tracks.

CHANGES TO RULE:

~~345-027-0368~~

~~Public Written Comment on the Draft Proposed Order for Requests for Amendment Under Type B Review~~

~~(1) After issuance of the draft proposed order as described in OAR 345-027-0365, the Council must solicit and receive written public comments on the draft proposed order. The Department must specify a written comment deadline at least 20 days after the draft proposed order is issued.~~

~~(2) Concurrent with the issuance of the draft proposed order as described in OAR 345-027-0365, the Department must:~~

~~(a) Send the notice described in section (3) of this rule by mail or email to:~~

~~(A) All persons on the Council's general mailing list as defined in OAR 345-011-0020;~~

~~(B) All persons on any special mailing list established for the facility;~~

~~(C) The reviewing agencies for the facility, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(52); and~~

~~(D) The property owners on the list provided under OAR 345-027-360(1)(f);~~

~~(b) Post the complete request for amendment, draft proposed order, and the notice of the draft proposed order and written comment deadline on the Department's website; and~~

~~(c) Make physical copies of the draft proposed order available to the public for inspection.~~

~~(3) Notice of the complete request for amendment, draft proposed order and written comment deadline must include:~~

~~(a) A description of the facility and the facility's general location;~~

~~(b) The name, address, email address and telephone number of the Department representative to contact for additional information;~~

~~(c) Addresses of the physical locations and the website where the public may review copies of the complete request for amendment and draft proposed order;~~

~~(d) The deadline for the public to submit written comments to be included in the record of the draft proposed order and how such comments should be submitted; and~~

~~(e) A statement that:~~

~~(A) A complete request for amendment has been received and reviewed by the Department;~~

~~(B) The Department has issued a draft proposed order;~~

~~(C) To raise an issue on the record of the draft proposed order, a person must raise the issue in a written comment submitted after the date of the notice of the draft proposed order and written comment deadline, and received by the Department before the written comment deadline;~~

~~(D) The Council will not accept or consider any further public comment on the request for amendment or on the draft proposed order after the written comment deadline that closes the record on the draft proposed order; and~~

~~(E) Judicial review of the Council's final order either granting or denying an amended site certificate shall be as provided in ORS 469.403.~~

~~Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470~~

~~Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405~~

AMEND: 345-027-0371

RULE SUMMARY: Updating to reflect enhanced public participation process and the removal of the possibility of a contested case.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0371

~~Proposed Order, Requests for Contested Case and Council's Final Decision on Requests for Amendment Under Type A Review~~

~~(1) No later than 3021 days after the Council has reviewed the draft proposed order and considered all comments received deadline for possible sur-replies related to the record of the public hearing under proposed order discussed in 345-027-0367(8)(e), the Department must issue a proposed order recommending approval, modification or denial of the request for amendment to the site certificate. The Department must consider any oral comments made at the public hearing, draft of the final order written comments received before the close of the record of the public hearing, agency consultation, and any Council comments. The Department may issue the proposed order at a later date, but the Department must, no later than 30 days after the Council has reviewed the draft proposed order and considered all comments received on the record of the public hearing, notify the certificate holder in writing of the reasons for the delay.~~

~~(2) Concurrent with issuing the proposed written analysis of any comments on the proposed order, including analysis of any responses order, the Department must issue public notice of the proposed order by:~~

~~(a) Sending public notice of the proposed order by mail or email to:~~

~~(A) All persons on the Council's general mailing list as defined in OAR 345-011-0020; and~~

~~(B) All persons on any special list established for the facility; and~~

~~(C) The reviewing agencies for the facility, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(52); and~~

~~(D) The property owners on the updated list provided under OAR 345-027-0360(1)(f); and~~

~~(b) Posting an announcement of, replies, and sur-replies, and indicate whether it recommends any changes to the proposed order on the Department's website.~~

~~(3) Notice of the proposed order must include:~~

~~(a) A description of the facility and the facility's general location; and~~

~~(b) A description of the process for requesting a contested case; and~~

~~(c) The physical address and website where the public may review copies of the proposed order; and~~

~~(d) The name, address, email address and telephone number of the Department representative to contact for more information.~~

~~(4) On the same date the notice of proposed order as described in section (2) is issued, the Department must send a notice of the opportunity to request a contested case by mail or email to the certificate holder, and to all persons who commented in person or in writing recommends any changes, it will include them in a draft of the final order.~~

~~(2) The Department may issue the draft on the record of the public hearing as described in OAR 345-027-0367. The notice must include the deadline for requesting a contested case and restatements of sections (5) through (9) of this rule.~~

~~(5) Only those persons, including the site certificate holder, who commented in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing described in OAR 345-027-0367 may request a contested case proceeding on the proposed order for an amendment to the site certificate. To properly raise an issue in a request for a contested case proceeding on the proposed order for an amendment, the issue must be within the jurisdiction of the Council, and the person must have raised the issue in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing, unless the Department did not follow the requirements of OAR 345-027-0367, or unless the action recommended in the proposed order differs materially from the draft proposed order, including any recommended conditions of approval, in which case the person may raise only new issues within the jurisdiction of the Council that are related to such differences. If a person has not raised an issue at the public hearing with sufficient specificity to afford the decision maker an opportunity to respond to the issue, the Council may not grant a contested case proceeding for that issue. To have raised an issue with sufficient specificity, the person must have presented facts at the public hearing that support that person's position on the issue.~~

~~(6) Contested case requests must be submitted in writing and must be received by the Department by a specified deadline that is at least 30 days from final order at a later date, but the Department must post an update of the date by which it will issue the draft of the final order on the Department's webpage for the facility.~~

~~(3) The Department must issue notice of a draft of the final order by:~~

~~(a) Sending notice of the date of notice in section (4) of this rule. Contested case requests must include:~~

~~(a) The person's name, mailing address and email address and any organization the person represents; and~~

~~(b) A short and plain statement of the issue or issues the person desires to raise in a contested case proceeding; and~~

~~(c) A statement that describes why the Council should find that the requester properly raised each issue, as~~

described in section (7) of this rule, including a specific reference to the person's prior comments to demonstrate that the person raised the specific issue or issues on the record of the public hearing, if applicable;¶¶

(d) A statement that describes why the Council should determine that each identified issue justifies a contested case, under the evaluation described in section (9) of this rule;¶¶

(e) Name and address of the person's attorney, if any;raft of the final order by mail or email to all persons, agencies, or organizations who commented during the public comment period; and¶¶

(f)b) A statement of whether the person's request to participate in a contested case is as a party or a limited party, and if as a limited party, the precise area or areas in which participation is sought;¶¶

(g) If the person seeks to protect a personal interest in the outcome of the proceeding, a detailed statement of the person's interest, economic or otherwise, and how such interest may be affected by the results of the proceeding;¶¶

(h) If the person seeks to represent a public interest in the results of the proceeding, a detailed statement of such public interest, the manner in which such public interest will be affected by the results of the proceeding, and the person's qualifications to represent such public interest; andPosting an announcement of the draft of the final order on the Department's webpage for the facility.¶¶

(i4) A statement of the reasons why others who commented on the record of the public hearing cannot adequately represent the interest identified in subsections (h) or (i) of this section:Notice of the draft must include:¶¶

(7a) Before considering whether an issue justifies a contested case proceeding under secA description (9) of this rule, the Council must determine that the person requesting a contested case commented in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing and properly raised each issue included in the request. To determine that a person properly raised each issue included in the request, the Council must find that: e facility and the facility's general location;¶¶

(ab) The person making the contested case request raised the issue on the record of the public hearing described in OAR 345-027-0367 with sufficient specificity to afford the Council, the Department, and the certificate holder an adequate opportunity to respond to the issue;¶¶

(b) The Department did not follow the requirements of OAR 345-027-0367; or¶¶

(c) If the action recommended in the proposed order, including any recommended conditions of approval, differs materially from the action recommended in the draft proposed order, the contested case request identified new issues that are related to such material differences.¶¶

(8) If the Council finds that the person requesting a contested case failed to comment in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing or failed to properly raise any issue, as described in section (7) of this rule, the Council must deny that person's contested case request. If the Council finds that the person requesting a contested case commented in person or in writing on the record of the public hearing and properly raised one or more issues, the Council's determination of whether an issue justifies a contested case, as described in section (9) of this rule, must be limited to those issues the Council finds were properly raised.¶¶

(9) After identifying the issues properly raised the Council must determine whether any properly raised issue justifies a contested case proceeding on that issue. To determine that an issue justifies a contested case proceeding, the Council must find that the request raises a significant issue of fact or law that is reasonably likely to affect the Council's determination whether the facility, with the change proposed by the amendment, meets the applicable laws and Council standards included in chapter 345 divisions 22, 23 and 24. If the Council does not have jurisdiction over the issue raised in the request, the Council must deny the request.¶¶

(10) The Council must take one of the following actions when determining if a request identifying one or more properly raised issues justifies a contested case proceeding:¶¶

(a) If the Council finds that the request identifies one or more properly raised issues that justify a contested case proceeding, the Council must conduct a contested case proceeding according to the applicable provisions of OAR 345-015-0012 to 345-015-0014 and 345-015-0018 to 345-015-0085. The Council must identify the contested case parties and the issues each contested case party may participate on. The parties to a contested case proceeding must be limited to those persons who commented on the record of the public hearing and who properly raised issues in their contested case request that the Council found sufficient to justify a contested case, except that the certificate holder is an automatic party to a contested case. The issues a party to a contested case proceeding may participate on must be limited to those issues that party properly raised in its contested case request that the Council found sufficient to justify a contested case, except that the certificate holder may participate on any issue the Council found sufficient to justify a contested case proceeding;hysical address and website where the public may review copies of the draft of the final order;¶¶

(c) The name, address, email address and telephone number of the Department representative to contact for more information; and¶¶

(d) The date of the Council's review of the draft final order and all related comments, responses, replies, and sur-replies.¶¶

(5) The Department may summarize the analysis it conducted to produce the draft of the final order at Council's

review of the draft of the final order.¶

(b) If the Council finds that the request identifies one or more properly raised issues that an amendment to the proposed order, including modification to conditions, would settle in a manner satisfactory to the Council, the Council may deny the request as to those issues and direct the Department to amend the proposed order and send a notice of the amended proposed order to the persons described in section (4) of this rule. Only the certificate holder and those persons who commented on the record of the hearing may, in a writing received by the Department within 30 days after the Department issues the notice of the amended proposed order, request a contested case proceeding limited to issues related to the amendment to the proposed order. As described in section (9) of this rule, the Council must determine whether any issue identified in the request for a contested case proceeding justifies a contested case proceeding. A person's contested case request under this subsection must include:¶

(A) The person's name, mailing address and email address;¶

(B) A statement of the contested issues related to the amendment to the proposed order, at its discretion, may pose questions to the Department, the Department of Justice, persons who commented on the proposed order, and/or the certificate holder.¶

(7) After reviewing the written analysis of the comments, the proposed order, including facts believed to be at issue; and¶

(C) A statement that describes why the Council should find an issue justifies a contested case, as described in section (8) of this rule; and¶

(c) If the Council finds that the request does not identify a properly raised issue that justifies a contested case proceeding, the Council must deny the request. In a written order denying the request, the Council must state the basis for the denial. The Council must then adopt, modify or reject the proposed orders, replies, and sur-replies, along with the draft of the final order, the Council, based on the considerations described in OAR 345-027-0375. In a written order the Council must either grant or deny issuance of an amended site certificate. If the Council grants issuance of an amended site certificate, the Council must issue an amended site certificate, which is effective upon execution by the Council Chair and by the certificate holder.¶

(11) If there is no request for a contested case proceeding as described in section (6) or subsection (10)(b) of this rule, the Council, may adopt, modify or reject the proposed order based on the considerations described in OAR 345-027-0375. In a written order, the Council must either grant in a written final order. The Council's final order may adopt, modify or reject the Department's draft of the final or deny issuance of an amended site certificate. If the Council grants issuance of an amended site certificate, the Council must then issue an amended site certificate, which is effective upon execution by the Council Chair and by the certificate holder.¶

(12) Judicial review of the Council's final order either granting or denying an amended site certificate is as provided in ORS 469.403(3).

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

REPEAL: 345-027-0372

RULE SUMMARY: Repealing as a result of the removal of the Type A / Type B review track.

CHANGES TO RULE:

~~345-027-0372~~

~~Proposed Order and Councils Final Decision on Requests for Amendment Under Type B Review~~

- ~~(1) No later than 21 days after the written comment deadline that closes the record on the draft proposed order, the Department must issue a proposed order recommending approval, modification or denial of the request for amendment to the site certificate. The Department must consider any written comments received before the close of the record on the draft proposed order and any agency consultation. The Department may issue the proposed order at a later date, but the Department must, no later than 21 days after the close of the record on the draft proposed order, notify the certificate holder in writing of the reasons for the delay.¶¶~~
- ~~(2) Concurrent with issuing the proposed order, the Department must issue public notice of the proposed order by posting public notice as an announcement on its website and by sending public notice by mail or email to:¶¶~~
- ~~(a) All persons on the Council's general mailing list as defined in OAR 345-011-0020;¶¶~~
- ~~(b) All persons on any special list established for the facility;¶¶~~
- ~~(c) The reviewing agencies for the facility, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(52); and¶¶~~
- ~~(d) The property owners on the updated list provided under OAR 345-027-0360(1)(f).¶¶~~
- ~~(3) Notice of the proposed order must include:¶¶~~
- ~~(a) A description of the facility and the facility's general location;¶¶~~
- ~~(b) The physical and website addresses of where the public may review copies of the proposed order;¶¶~~
- ~~(c) The name, address, email address and telephone number of the Department representative to contact for more information; and¶¶~~
- ~~(d) A statement that judicial review of the Council's final order either granting or denying an amended site certificate is as provided in ORS 469.403.¶¶~~
- ~~(4) The Council, may adopt, modify or reject the proposed order based on the considerations described in OAR 345-027-0375. In a written order, the Council must either grant or deny issuance of an amended site certificate. If the Council grants issuance of an amended site certificate, the Council must issue an amended site certificate, which is effective upon execution by the Council Chair and by the certificate holder.¶¶~~
- ~~(5) Judicial review of the Council's final order either granting or denying an amended site certificate is as provided in ORS 469.403.~~

~~Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470~~

~~Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405~~

AMEND: 345-027-0375

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule language to improve clarity.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0375

Scope of Council's Review

(1) In making a decision to grant or deny issuance of an amended site certificate, the Council must apply the applicable laws and Council standards required under section (2) of this rule and in effect on the dates described in section (3) of this rule.¶¶

(2) To issue an amended site certificate, the Council must determine that the preponderance of evidence on the record supports the following conclusions:¶¶

(a) ~~For a request for amendment proposing to add new area to the site boundary, the portion of the facility within the area added to the site by the~~ The facility as amended ~~complies with all applicable laws and Council standards applicable to an original site certificate application;~~¶¶

(b) For a request for amendment to extend the deadlines for beginning or completing construction, after considering any changes in facts or law relevant to the proposed amendment since the date the current site certificate was executed, the facility complies with all laws and Council standards applicable to an original site certificate application. However, for requests to extend completion deadlines, the Council need not find compliance with an applicable law or Council standard if the Council finds that:¶¶

(A) The certificate holder has spent more than 50 percent of the budgeted costs on construction of the facility;¶¶

(B) The inability of the certificate holder to complete the construction of the facility by the deadline in effect before the amendment is the result of unforeseen circumstances that are outside the control of the certificate holder;¶¶

(C) The standard, if applied, would result in an unreasonable financial burden on the certificate holder; and¶¶

(D) The Council does not need to apply the standard to avoid a significant threat to the public health, safety or the environment;¶¶

(c) ~~For a request for amendment not described above, the facility, with the proposed change, complies with the applicable laws or Council standards that protect a resource or interest that could be affected by the proposed change;~~¶¶

~~(d)~~ For a request for amendment to a site certificate for a fossil-fueled power plant, Council must also find the proposed change will not increase the gross carbon dioxide emissions that are reasonably likely to result from the operation of the facility by more than three percent (3%) above the estimated gross carbon dioxide emissions used to determine compliance with the applicable carbon dioxide standard in the site certificate or amended site certificate most recently issued before September 25, 2021.¶¶

~~(e) For all requests for amendment, the amount of the bond or letter of credit required under OAR 345-022-0050 is adequate.~~¶¶

(3) In making findings under section (1~~2~~) of this rule, the Council must apply the applicable laws and Council standards in effect on the following dates, regardless of when the site certificate was previously approved or amended:¶¶

(a) For the applicable substantive criteria under the Council's land use standard, as described in OAR 345-022-0030, the date the request for amendment was submitted; and¶¶

(b) For all other applicable laws and Council standards, the date the Council issues its final order on the request for amendment.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.401, 469.405, 469.413(2), 469.504

RULE SUMMARY: Updating name for Type C amendments given the loss of the Type A/B distinction.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0380

~~Type C Review Process~~ for Pre-Operational Requests for Amendment

- (1) A certificate holder may only request ~~the type C review for a~~ a pre-operational request for amendment when the change proposed in the request for amendment relates to the facility, or portion/phase of the facility, not yet in operation, but approved for construction in the site certificate or amended site certificate. A certificate holder may not request ~~type C review of a~~ a pre-operational request for amendment proposing to extend construction deadlines.¶
- (2) Requests under section (1) of this rule must be submitted in writing to the Department and must include:¶
- (a) A complete request for amendment, including the information described in OAR 345-027-0360(1);¶
- (b) The reasons why the certificate holder needs ~~type C a pre-operational request for amendment~~ review of its request for amendment;¶
- (c) An explanation of why the proposed change could not have been reasonably foreseen by the certificate holder;¶
- (d) An explanation of why the proposed change is unavoidable; and¶
- (e) Reasons why ~~the type C a pre-operational request for amendment~~ review is adequate to prevent significant adverse impacts to the resources and interests protected by applicable laws or Council standards.¶
- (3) Upon receiving a request under sections (1) and (2) of this rule, the Department must post the request and the request for amendment on the Department's website.¶
- (4) Within 3 business days after receiving a request under sections (1) and (2) of this rule, the Department must issue a written determination either granting or denying ~~type C a pre-operational request for amendment~~ review. Upon issuance, the Department must post the written determination on its website.¶
- (5) If the Department denies ~~type C a pre-operational request for amendment~~ review, the certificate holder may request the Department's determination to be referred to the Council. If requested, the Department must refer its determination to the Council for concurrence, modification or rejection. Upon a Department determination being referred to the Council, the Council chair must convene a Council meeting as promptly as possible as described in OAR 345-011-0015.¶
- (6) To grant a request under section (1) of this rule, the Department or the Council must find:¶
- (a) Construction of the certificated energy facility, or portion of the certificated energy facility, has not been deemed complete;¶
- (b) The request for amendment is complete;¶
- (c) ~~Type C A pre-operational request for amendment~~ review is necessary;¶
- (d) The proposed change could not have been reasonably foreseen by the certificate holder;¶
- (e) The proposed change is unavoidable; and¶
- (f) ~~Type C A pre-operational request for amendment~~ review is adequate to prevent significant adverse impacts to the resources and interests protected by applicable laws or Council standards.¶
- (7) Within 7 days after a request under section (1) of this rule is granted, the Department must:¶
- (a) Issue a draft temporary order approving or denying the request for amendment, including a recommendation to the Council on whether Council review should be completed through the ~~type A or type B review process~~ standard amendment review process set forth in OAR 345-027-0360 through 345-027-0375; and¶
- (b) Post the draft temporary order on the Department's website.¶
- (8) The Council must, at its first meeting following the Department's issuance of a draft temporary order, consider the draft temporary order and consider whether review should be completed though the ~~type A or type B standard amendment~~ review process. Upon issuance of a draft temporary order, the Council chair may call a special Council meeting, as described in OAR 345-011-0015, to be held as promptly as possible.¶
- (9) After considering the draft temporary order and the Department's recommendation on whether review should be completed through the ~~type A or type B standard amendment~~ review process, the Council must adopt, modify, or reject the draft temporary order based on the considerations described in OAR 345-027-0375, and the Council must decide whether review should be completed through the ~~type A or type B standard amendment~~ review process. In a written temporary order, the Council must either temporarily grant issuance of an amended site certificate, or deny issuance of an amended site certificate.¶
- (10) Before implementing any change approved by the Council's temporary order, the certificate holder must submit an authorized acknowledgement that the certificate holder accepts all terms and conditions of the temporary order.¶
- (11) If review is to be completed through the ~~type A review process~~, review proceeds as described in OAR 345-

~~027-0367, 345-027-0371, and 345-027-0375, where the temporary order replaces all references to the draft proposed order.~~¶

~~(12) If review is to be completed through the type B standard amendment review process, review proceeds as described in OAR 345-027-0368, 345-027-0372, and 0 through 345-027-0375, where the temporary order replaces all references to the draft proposed order.~~¶

(13) Action taken by the certificate holder under the authority of the temporary order that is inconsistent with the language and conditions of the final order is not a violation so long as the inconsistency is remedied by the certificate holder as specified by the Council in the final order.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.405

AMEND: 345-027-0385

RULE SUMMARY: Removing the requirement for providing a need reason and clarifying the timing of extension requests.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0385

Request for Amendment to Extend Construction Deadlines

(1) The certificate holder may request an amendment to the site certificate to extend the deadlines for beginning or completing construction of the facility, or portion/phase of the facility, that the Council has approved in a site certificate or an amended site certificate by submitting a preliminary request for amendment in accordance with OAR 345-027-0360. The preliminary request for amendment must ~~include an explanation of the need for an extension and must~~ be submitted to the Department before the applicable construction deadline, but no earlier than the date twelve months before the applicable construction deadline.¶¶

(2) A preliminary request for amendment received by the Department within the time allowed under section (1) of this rule to extend the deadlines for beginning and completing construction suspends expiration of the site certificate or amended site certificate until the Council acts on the request for amendment. If the Council denies the extension request after the applicable construction deadline, the site certificate is deemed expired as of the applicable construction deadline specified in the site certificate or amended site certificate.¶¶

(3) If the Council grants an amendment under this rule, the Council must specify new deadlines for beginning or completing construction that are ~~the later of:~~¶¶

~~(a) No more than three years from the deadlines in effect before the Council grants the amendment; or,¶¶~~

~~(b) Following a contested case proceeding conducted pursuant to OAR 345-027-0371, two years from the date the Council grants the amendment.¶¶~~

~~(4) For requests for amendment to the site certificate received under this rule to extend construction deadlines for facilities or portions of the facility, the Council may not grant more than two amendments to extend the deadline for beginning construction of a facility or a phase of a facility.¶¶~~

~~(5) For requests for an amendment to the site certificate to extend construction deadlines for facilities, or portions/phases of facilities, not yet in construction, but already approved for construction in the site certificate or amended site certificate prior to October 24, 2017:¶¶~~

~~(a) Sections (1) and (2) of this rule apply;¶¶~~

~~(b) Sections (3) and (4) of this rule do not apply;¶¶~~

~~(c) When considering whether to grant a request for amendment for a deadline extension made under this section, the Council must consider how many extensions it has previously granted; and¶¶~~

~~(d) If a request for amendment for a deadline extension made under this section is granted, the Council must specify new deadlines for beginning or completing construction that are not more than two years from the deadlines in effect before the Council grants the amendment for a period of time not to exceed nine years, calculated from the granting of the original site certificate.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.370, 469.405, 469.503

RULE SUMMARY: Updating rule references based on recent rule changes.

CHANGES TO RULE:

345-027-0400

Request for Amendment to Transfer Ownership, Possession or Control of the Facility or the Certificate Holder ¶¶

(1) For the purpose of this rule:¶¶

(a) A request for amendment to a site certificate to transfer the site certificate is required for a transaction that results in a change in the ownership, possession or control of the facility or the certificate holder.¶¶

(b) "New owner" means the person or entity that will gain ownership, possession or control of the facility or the certificate holder.¶¶

(2) When the certificate holder has knowledge that a transaction that requires a transfer of the site certificate as described in section (1)(a) of this rule is or may be pending, the certificate holder must notify the Department. In the notice, the certificate holder must include the name and contact information of the new owner, and the date of the transfer of ownership. If possible, the certificate holder must notify the Department at least 60 days before the date of the transfer of ownership.¶¶

(3) A transaction that would require a transfer of the site certificate as described in subsection (1)(a) of this rule does not terminate the transferor's duties and obligations under the site certificate until the Council approves a request for amendment to transfer the site certificate and issues an amended site certificate. The new owner may not construct or operate the facility until an amended site certificate as described in section (10) of this rule or a temporary amended site certificate as described in section (11) of this rule becomes effective.¶¶

(4) To request an amendment to transfer the site certificate, the new owner must submit a written request to the Department that includes the information described in OAR 345-022-0010(5)(a)-(b), ~~OAR 345-021-0010(c)~~, and OAR 345-022-0050(4)(a), a certification that the new owner agrees to abide by all terms and conditions of the site certificate currently in effect and, if known, the expected date of the transaction. If applicable, the new owner must include in the request the information described in ~~OAR 345-024-0500(4)(b)(O)(iv)~~.¶¶

(5) The Department may require the new owner to submit a written statement from the current certificate holder, or a certified copy of an order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, verifying the new owner's right, subject to the provisions of ORS Chapter 469 and the rules of this chapter, to possession or control of the site or the facility.¶¶

(6) Within 15 days after receiving a request for amendment to transfer the site certificate, the Department must send a notice of the request that describes the request for amendment to transfer the site certificate, specifies a date by which comments are due, and states that the date of the Council's transfer hearing will be announced on the Department's website, by mail or email to:¶¶

(a) All persons on the Council's general mailing list; as defined in OAR 345-011-0020; ¶¶

(b) All persons on any special list established for the facility;¶¶

(c) The reviewing agencies for the facility, as defined in OAR 345-001-0010(52); and¶¶

(d) The property owners on the updated list submitted under section (4) of this rule.¶¶

(7) Before acting on the request for amendment to transfer the site certificate, the Council must hold a transfer hearing. The Council must hold the transfer hearing during a Council meeting and must provide notice of the hearing on its meeting agenda, which will be sent by mail or email to the Council's general mailing list in advance of the meeting. The transfer hearing is not a contested case hearing. During the hearing the Council will accept comments from the public, reviewing agencies and new owner regarding the new owner's compliance with the Council standards described in subsection (8)(a) of this rule.¶¶

(8) At the conclusion of the transfer hearing or at a later meeting, the Council may issue an order approving the request for amendment to transfer the site certificate if the Council finds that:¶¶

(a) The new owner complies with the Council standards described in OAR 345-022-0010, 345-022-0050 and, if applicable, OAR 345-024-0710(1); and¶¶

(b) The new owner is or will be lawfully entitled to possession or control of the site or the facility described in the site certificate.¶¶

(9) Except as described in OAR 345-027-0351(5), the Council may not otherwise change the terms and conditions of the site certificate in an order approving the request for amendment to transfer the site certificate.¶¶

(10) Upon issuing the order described in section (8) of this rule, the Council must issue an amended site certificate that names the new owner as the new certificate holder or as the new owner of the certificate holder. The amended site certificate is effective upon execution by the Council chair and the new owner. The Council must issue the amended site certificate in duplicate counterpart originals and each counterpart, upon signing, will have the same effect.¶¶

(11) If the Council chair determines that special circumstances justify emergency action, the Council chair may, upon a written request from the new owner that includes a showing that the new owner can meet the requirements of section (8) of this rule, issue a temporary amended site certificate that names the new owner as the new certificate holder or as the new owner of the certificate holder. The temporary amended site certificate is effective upon execution by the Council chair and the new owner. The temporary amended site certificate expires when an amended site certificate as described in section (10) of this rule becomes effective or as the Council otherwise orders.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 469.470

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 469.401, 469.405